

**The following manuscript is the pre-print, non-revised text corresponding to the following publication:**

PMID: 30362078

DOI: 10.1007/s00467-018-4112-2

## **A Pediatric Neurologic Assessment Score may drive the Eculizumab-based treatment of Escherichia Coli-related Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome with neurological involvement**

*Paolo Giordano<sup>1\*</sup>, Giuseppe Stefano Netti<sup>2\*</sup>, Luisa Santangelo<sup>1</sup>, Giuseppe Castellano<sup>3</sup>, Vincenza Carbone<sup>1</sup>, Diletta Domenica Torres<sup>1</sup>, Marida Martino<sup>1</sup>, Michele Sesta<sup>4</sup>, Franca Di Cuonzo<sup>5</sup>, Maria Chiara Resta<sup>5</sup>, [Alberto Gaeta<sup>6</sup>](#), Leonardo Milella<sup>7</sup>, Maria Chironna<sup>8</sup>, Cinzia Germinario<sup>8</sup>, Gaia Scavia<sup>9</sup>, Loreto Gesualdo<sup>2</sup>, Mario Giordano<sup>1</sup>.*

<sup>1</sup> Pediatric Nephrology and Dialysis Unit, Pediatric Hospital "Giovanni XXIII", Bari (Italy)

<sup>2</sup> Clinical Pathology Unit and Center for Molecular Medicine, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, University of Foggia, Foggia (Italy)

<sup>3</sup> Nephrology, Dialysis and Transplantation Unit, Department of Emergency and Organ Transplantation, University of Bari "Aldo Moro", Bari (Italy)

<sup>4</sup> Pediatric Neurology Unit, Pediatric Hospital "Giovanni XXIII", Bari (Italy)

<sup>5</sup> Department of Neuroradiology, University of Bari "Aldo Moro", Bari (Italy)

<sup>6</sup> [Pediatric Radiology Unit, Pediatric Hospital "Giovanni XXIII", Bari \(Italy\)](#)

<sup>7</sup> Intensive Care Unit, Pediatric Hospital "Giovanni XXIII", Bari (Italy)

<sup>8</sup> Department of Biomedical Science and Human Oncology, University of Bari "Aldo Moro" Bari (Italy)

<sup>9</sup> Food Safety, Nutrition and Veterinary Public Health Department, National Institute of Health, Rome (Italy)

\* Paolo Giordano and Giuseppe Stefano Netti equally contributed to the present work.

## Abstract

Thrombotic Microangiopathy (TMA) is a clinical syndrome encompassing a large group of rare but severe disorders including Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura (TTP) and both typical and atypical forms of Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome (HUS). The key role of the Complement System is well known in TTP and atypical HUS, but recent reports describe its involvement in the pathogenesis of HUS secondary to gastrointestinal infections due to Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC).

TMA mainly affects the kidney, but extra-renal complications are frequently described. The involvement of the central nervous system (CNS) represents often a life-threatening condition and it can result in serious long-term disability in HUS-patients who overcome the acute phase of illness.

In the present study we retrospectively analyzed a pediatric cohort of a single tertiary pediatric hospital in Southern Italy, in which this complication occurred in 12/54 children (22% of cases), of whom 5 with severe neurological involvement had been successfully treated with Eculizumab. The great clinical variability of brain injury in our cohort has led us to retrospectively build a "neurological score" useful to assess the clinical severity of neurologic involvement. Subjects with higher neurologic score due to the most severe CNS involvement ~~having a high neurologic score~~ were resulted in the group of patients early treated with Eculizumab, obtaining a good clinical response (4 out of 5 patients). In conclusion the early treatment with Eculizumab in children with severe neurological involvement during STEC-HUS was associated with complete regression of both Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) and neurological lesions observed at Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI). A "neurological score" may be an useful tool to drive the early treatment of CNS complications in STEC-HUS with Eculizumab, although future perspective controlled studies are urgently needed to validate this therapeutic approach.

## Key-words

Hemolytic uremic syndrome – Neurological involvement – Eculizumab – Magnetic resonance imaging



## Introduction

The triad of hemolytic anemia with erythrocyte fragmentation, thrombocytopenia, and organ damage represents the clinical expression of Thrombotic Micro-Angiopathy (TMA), a clinical syndrome encompassing the Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura (TTP) and both typical and atypical forms of Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome (HUS)[1].

Unlike the TTP and the atypical HUS (aHUS), in the typical HUS secondary to gastrointestinal infections due to Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC-HUS) the absence of specific therapy enforces the clinicians to quickly establish the best supportive care [2] with the aim to reduce STEC-HUS related mortality and morbidity. The achievement of an organizational model is crucial to allow early detection of hemorrhagic gastroenteritis potentially due to STEC [3,4].

The best supportive care for STEC-HUS includes both the renal replacement therapy (RRT), when needed, and the blood transfusions, which are used in 80% of STEC-HUS patients with severe anemia. Infusion of platelets is not indicated due to the higher risk of *de novo* thrombosis, with the exception of severe hemorrhages or before a surgical procedure [5].

A debated issue for a long time is the use of antibiotics [6]: several authors [7,8] suggest that most antibiotics (except fosfomycin), might induce massive bacterial lysis with release of large amounts of Shiga Toxins and severe worsening HUS [9].

Plasma exchange (PEX) and plasma infusion (PI) have been recognized as best treatment for severe HUS for several years [10-13]. Nowadays, recent reports do not confirm the efficacy of these therapies in STEC-HUS [14,15]. Nevertheless, PEX and PI are actually the best "rescue therapy" for neurological HUS [16]. Neurological injury occurs in 20-25% of STEC-HUS patients, can be sudden and severe and is the most frequent cause of acute mortality in this group of patients [17,18]. This complication is caused by body fluids and electrolytes disorders secondary to AKI (electrolytic alterations, uremia, arterial hypertension) and by thrombotic microangiopathy of the cerebral microcirculation [19].

With the establishment of a pathogenic role for the complement system in the onset of STEC-HUS [20] the use of "off label" treatment of the severe forms of STEC-HUS with Eculizumab (even in

presence of neurological involvement [NI]) has been added to therapeutic regimens [21].

Eculizumab is an anti-C5-convertase monoclonal antibody, licensed in Italy for the therapy of atypical forms of HUS (aHUS) and paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria (PNH).

In the present work we propose a Pediatric Neurologic Assessment Score for HUS patients (PNAS-HUS) and analyze the efficacy and the safety of Eculizumab treatment in a pediatric cohort of STEC-HUS patients with severe NI.

## **Subjects and Methods**

### ***Patients***

Between January 2006 and September 2016, 55 children (24 males, 31 females) (mean age 32 months, min 7-max 155) were admitted to the Pediatric Nephrology and Dialysis Unit of the Pediatric Hospital "Giovanni XXIII" in Bari with a diagnosis of STEC-HUS.

The main clinical and laboratory parameters for the diagnosis of HUS (hemoglobin, erythrocytes count, platelet count, serum creatinine, azotemia, LDH, aptoglobin, total direct and indirect bilirubin) were collected and recorded in 54/55 children; an 18 month old boy died on the first day of hospitalization for severe gastrointestinal hemorrhage and was excluded from further analysis.

In 12 cases (22.2%), clinical manifestations of CNS involvement were recorded. The mean age of children with NI (6 males and 6 females) was 25 months, ranging between 7 and 53 months. Five out of 12 showed severe NI and were treated with Eculizumab, after their parents signed informed consent for "off-label" use of this drug.

We carried out a retrospective study based on registry data and no ethics approval was required. Nevertheless, all the children's parents signed a written informed consent to collect their clinical data at time of hospital access.

### ***Methods***

The diagnosis of typical HUS was suspected in the presence of clinical signs of active thrombotic micro-angiopathy (low platelets count, hemolysis, and kidney damage). Diagnosis was confirmed by specific diagnostic assays: a) Stx free fecal examination detection by the Vero cells assay; b) Isolation of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) with serological typing and PCR detection of the genes coding for virulence factors *vtx1*, *vtx2*, *eae*; c) specific anti-lipopolysaccharide serum antibodies (LPS) against the major STEC serotypes mainly related to typical HUS (O26, O157, O103, O111 and O145) [22].

Among patients with STEC-HUS, neurological involvement (NI) was diagnosed in presence of one or more of the following clinical signs at the onset or during the acute phase of the disease:

alteration of consciousness, confusional state, disorders of communication skills, strabismus/eye fixing, nystagmus, amaurosis, seizures, hyporeactivity, disorders of muscle tone (hypo/hypertone) and neurovegetative system (heart rate, hypo/~~hyper~~tension, respiratory rate alterations).

NI was analyzed with clinical neurological evaluation, electrophysiological investigations (EEGs) and, when needed for severe neurologic sign, with neuro-imaging techniques (Computer Tomography or Magnetic Resonance of the brain).

Based on neurologic clinical signs recorded during hospitalization and on number and type of instrumental investigations, a Pediatric Neurologic Assessment Score for HUS patients (PNAS-HUS) was retrospectively developed. In detail, a variable score from 0 (absence of the symptom) to 3 (maximum symptom expression) was assigned to each of the clinical signs considered. Values 1 and 2 were attributed respectively to mild and mild-to-severe symptoms or duration. Due to great clinical variability of brain injury, the more serious episode for each clinical sign was considered for the score assignment.

A further score of 1 for each neuro-radiological examination (MRI or CT scan of the brain) and 0.5 for each EEG were added to the obtained value, regardless of pathological findings severity (for details see Supplementary Table 1Materials). The final score was assessed by two independent observers based on available clinical data with a negligible inter-observer variation.

One or more EEG tests, based on the clinical course, were performed in all 12 children at our Pediatric Hospital using 24 channels electroencephalograph (EEG 1200, Nikon Kohden, Tokyo, Japan) equipped with photo stimulator with Xenon lamp. All the tests were performed with 24 channels (12 for brain electrical activity) and the recorded data were analyzed with sampling frequencies up to 10000 Hz.

The CT scan of the brain was performed at in Radio-diagnostic Unit of our Hospital in 8/12 children with a multi-slice General Electric "Lightspeed" Computerized Tomograph, 64-layer high resolution (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, UK).

The MRI of the brain was performed in 11/12 patients at the Neuro-Radiology Unit of our Hospital with a General Electrics "SIGNAMR 1, 5 ES Excite" (GE Healthcare) and was completed by

spectroscopy analysis. All the patients received anesthesia for the procedure because of critical conditions and of risk of movement.

### ***Treatment with Eculizumab***

After counseling and informed consent procedures, Eculizumab was administered in five children, all treated after 2011. They received two doses of 300 mg of Eculizumab at day 1 and day 8 together with transient antibiotic coverage and meningococcal vaccination.

### ***Statistical analysis***

The statistical analysis was performed with SPSS Statistics Software (SPSS 17.0 Inc., Evanstone, USA). Normality of variable distribution was tested using Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Comparison of variables between the different groups was obtained with Student's *t*-test and Mann-Whitney *U*-test owing to normal or non-parametric distribution. Frequencies were compared among groups by  $\chi^2$ -test.

Pediatric Neurologic Assessment Score for HUS patients (PNAS-HUS), obtained as described before, was converted in percentile rank and patients affected by neurologic STEC-HUS were divided in two groups, according to a total score above or below ~~with a total score above~~ the 50th percentile ~~were considered eligible for treatment with Eculizumab~~.

A *p*-value of  $\leq 0.05$  was considered statistically significant. Results are expressed in the text as mean and as [minimum-maximum] range, unless otherwise stated.

## Results

Between January 2006 and September 2016, 55 children affected by STEC-HUS were treated at our Hospital. Frequency analysis showed an average of about 5 cases per years (Figure 1). Noteworthy, an epidemic cluster was recorded in 2013, with a total of 20 cases, 17 of which were treated in our Unit[22].

Based on clinical and laboratory data, the diagnosis of STEC-HUS was confirmed by the positivity of at least one of the three specific test. Shiga Toxin (Stx) free fecal examination, performed at laboratory of Hygiene and Public Health Unit of University of Bari, was positive in 42 specimens (77.8%).

Isolation of Stx-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) was obtained only in 32 stool specimens from 32 patients (59.3%), which were sent to laboratory of National Reference Laboratory for E.Coli in Rome. All the STEC isolated from HUS cases belonged to the “top-five” STEC serogroups (O157, O26, O111, O145, O103). The STEC serotype most commonly associated with the diagnosis of HUS in our cohort was O26 (53%), and was also present in community-wide outbreak in august-september 2013 [22]. Others serotypes as O145 (18%), O111 (15%), O153 and O107 (both 7%), were less frequently involved. Noteworthy, no differences in main baseline clinical and laboratory data were observed in sporadic STEC-HUS patients as compared with epidemic cases treated during community-wide outbreak in august-september 2013 [22].

Among the patients enrolled in the study, regarding renal function, twenty-nine of our patients (53.7%) required RRT, while supportive medical therapy was successfully administered in the remaining 25 patients (46.3%).

After recovery from HUS, all the patients were analyzed in a follow-up ranging from 1 to 60 months. Among the entire study group, 37 patients (68.5%) gained complete clinical remission without apparent renal sequelae to date, while in thirteen patients (24.2%) and in three patients (5.5%) were non-nephrotic proteinuria and glomerular micro-hematuria respectively. Only one STEC-HUS patient (1.8%) developed chronic renal failure requiring a dialysis-transplant program.

The involvement of the central nervous system (CNS) was present in 12 children (22.2%). These patients showed higher levels of serum creatinine (3.5 [3.0-5.4] vs. 1.3 [0.6-1.8] mg/dL,  $p<0.001$ ), serum urea (176.8 [22.8-225.8] vs. 99.9 [58.2-175.4] mg/dL,  $p<0.002$ ), leucocytes count (17.8 [13.6-21.3] vs. 11.0 [8.2-12.6]  $\times 10^3/\mu\text{L}$ ,  $p<0.001$ ) and C-reactive protein [19.7 [6.7-30.0] vs. 1.1 [0.5-3.5] mg/dL,  $p<0.002$ ], while serum levels of sodium were lower (129 [range 124-132] vs. 134 [range 130-140] mEq/L,  $p<0.005$ ), as compared to STEC-HUS patients without CNS involvement. No other parameters showed statistically significant differences [Table 1].

The spectrum of neurological symptoms was extremely variable in severity and type. The neurological signs and symptoms recorded in the 12 STEC-HUS patients with CNS involvement are detailed in Table 2, as well as the serotype of E. Coli responsible of STEC-HUS.

All the signs and symptoms that compose a Pediatric Neurologic Assessment Score for HUS patients (PNAS-HUS) were assessed retrospectively in 12 STEC-HUS patients with CNS involvement. A median score of 9 arbitrary unit allow us to divide all the enrolled patients respectively to lower score group ( $<9$ ) or to higher score group ( $>9$ ), depending on severity of neurological signs and symptoms (see Supplementary Figure 1). The group with lower neurologic score encompassed seven patients with mild neurological manifestations, while five patients with severe NI, requiring treatment in Pediatric Intensive Care Unit, were included in the group with higher neurologic score.

As shown in Table 2, alterations of consciousness were reported in all the patients, although of variable severity, while recurrent seizures affected 58% of children. Ocular alterations were variably reported (stabisimus or eye fixing in 10 cases, nistagmus in 3 case, visus abnormalities in 2 cases), while muscle tone evaluation showed alterations in 5 cases. Language disorders were observed only in 4 case, while incidence of neurovegetative disorders (heart rate alterations, hypotension, respiratory rate alterations) accounted for 25% of cases (3 children).

The children with higher neurologic score ( $n=5$ ), ~~all observed after 2011~~, were treated with Eculizumab due to severity of CNS involvement. In three of them, PEX was the first line therapy without clinical results, while the last two were treated at the beginning with Eculizumab. This therapeutic approach resulted in 80% of successful clinical response (4/5) with both regression

neurological lesions and normalization of laboratory findings (Hemoglobin, platelets count, LDH, serum creatinine, C3 levels) suggestive of active TMA (Figure 2-3-4).

CNS examination with MRI in most cases of neurologic HUS showed local acute lesions at the basal ganglia and at white matter, mainly in semioval centers, as shown in diffusion weighted images (Figure 5A). The hypoxic lesions of basal ganglia and necrotic-haemorrhagic features of putamen and body of the caudate nucleus were combined with large ischemic vascular lesions of brain cortex (Figure 5A). After Eculizumab treatment, a regression of these lesions and the disappearance of neurologic signs and symptoms were observed (Figure 5B) except the first case. In this child, despite Eculizumab treatment, the local acute lesions at the basal ganglia evolved at second NMR in necrotic-haemorrhagic lesion of putamen.

In the seven case with mild neurologic involvement, the supportive care resulted in complete clinical remission with normalization of main laboratory parameters.

## Discussion

The most severe and frequent extra-renal manifestation of HUS is neurological involvement (NI), whose incidence is not well established, despite it represents the main HUS-related cause of death and morbidity. The incidence of STEC-HUS related NI in children is variable, ranging from 3% (French Registry of Epidemiological Surveillance of the HUS) to 69% (Germany 2011) [24-25], the latter probably related to the strong virulence of the STEC serotype (O104) responsible for the epidemic episode. The spectrum of neurologic signs may be also wide, from headache and confusion to language, visual and behavioral disorders to convulsions and coma [25]. The variable clinical criteria to define NI during STEC-HUS may be a further confounder for diagnosis.

A recent report describes a NI incidence of 17% in a single center case study ~~of 46 patients observed along a follow-up of 10 years~~; 8/46 patients presented signs of NI as convulsions, hemiparesis or consciousness disorders [17]. This incidence rate appears closer to the data reported in our cohort study in which NI encompassing a wide spectrum of neurological symptoms involved 12 out 54 children with an incidence of 22.2%.

The etiopathogenetic mechanism for NI onset seems to be due to TMA related hypoxic-ischemic phenomena in association with uremia, electrolyte abnormalities and high blood pressure [19]. Although this typical secondary lesion of thrombotic microangiopathy was not observed in the human cerebral endothelium [26,27], in experimental models (i.e. rabbit) ~~it has been shown that~~ Stx directly induced brain ischemic lesions due to arterial necrosis and endothelial damage [23,28]. In addition, evidence of increased levels of TNF1, TNF-R1 and TMP-1 seemed to play a crucial role in localized inflammatory phenomena ~~in NI related to onset of NI in STEC-HUS~~. [29]. Some authors suggested that both TNF-alpha and interleukin-1 (IL-1), either separately and in combination, strengthened the Stx1-mediated inhibition of protein synthesis in endothelial cells of the cerebral microcirculation and also induced the expression of enzymes involved in the synthesis of GB3, the receptor of Stx [30]. Higher levels of Caspase-3, a pro-apoptotic enzyme able to induce DNA fragmentation, were induced after incubation of endothelial cells with TNF-alpha and before exposure to Stx [31]. Taken together, these data underline the crucial role of pro-

inflammatory cytokines in the onset of Caspase-3-related apoptotic phenomena in the brain endothelium during STEC-HUS. Moreover detection of leukocytosis or high plasma levels of C reactive protein (CRP) have been related to severe neurologic damage during STEC-HUS [24]. In our cohort both leukocyte count and CRP were significantly higher at hospital admission in patients affected by STEC-HUS with neurologic involvement, as compared with the other group.

Patients with severe ~~Neurologic involvement~~ showed significantly lower serum levels of sodium, as compared with the group with mild clinical phenotype (Table 2). This data may be confounded due to fluid resuscitation required by supportive care of STEC-HUS [32], although it may exacerbate the brain damage through several mechanisms [33-36].

Due to the lack of specific therapy, correction of electrolyte disorders and hydration status are major issues in the best supportive care of patients with STEC-HUS [2]. In detail, when diuresis is preserved, hyperhydration increases capillary blood flow and reduces the risk of capillary thrombosis and consequent ischemia with better short and long term outcome [3-4]. This observation underlines the importance of early diagnosis of HUS and the achievement of an organizational model which allows an early detection of hemorrhagic gastroenteritis potentially due to STEC in pediatric patients [37]. The onset of oligo-anuria during hemorrhagic gastroenteritis imposes fluid restriction to prevent fluid overload. In our cohort 53.7% of patients required renal replacement therapy for AKI onset and fluid overload while blood transfusion was required in almost 80% of STEC-HUS patients, ~~due to severe anemia, while platelets transfusion is generally contraindicated because of the risk of more severe thrombotic microangiopathy, with exception of severe hemorrhage or when surgical procedures are required~~ [5]. Treatment of STEC-HUS has been a matter of debate for a long time and plasma exchange (PEX) and plasma infusion (PI) have been used as gold standard therapy for this disease, as for atypical HUS [10,11]. Recently the efficacy of these therapies has been discussed in treatment of STEC-HUS, while PEX remains the preferred rescue therapy for severe forms of neurologic HUS [12,13,16].

The activation of complement system, as established in atypical HUS, has been observed also in STEC-HUS, due to toxin effects of Stx on the endothelial cells and consequent activation of alternative pathway of complement system. Moreover Stx is able to directly activate the alternative

pathway of complement system, but also to inhibit complement regulatory proteins (CFH, CD59, thrombomodulin), mimicking loss of function mutations observed in atypical HUS [35]. The knowledge of the complement system role in the onset of this form of TMA has implied a potential therapeutic role for Eculizumab, an anti-C5-convertase monoclonal antibody, for the treatment of severe forms of STEC-HUS [38,39,40,41]. This therapeutic approach is not considered as first-line therapy in STEC-HUS pediatric patients, because of milder clinical phenotype and lower mortality as compared to adults, although the HUS Italian Registry reports a raw mortality of 2.8% [43], a potentially disabling CNS involvement in 20% of cases and a worse renal outcome (End Stage Renal Disease) in 3.4% [44].

Moreover supportive neurologic care and intensive extracorporeal blood purification (plasma exchange, selective immunoabsorption) have provided limited advantages for treatment of neurologic involvement during STEC-HUS [40, 45-48].

In 2011, it was reported the first use of Eculizumab for treatment of three pediatric cases of STEC-HUS-related encephalopathy. All the patients showed serological signs of complement activation (low C3 levels and high C3d levels) and were refractory to PEX treatment. After 24h of drug administration, a good clinical and laboratory response was observed within 5 days [21]. Further studies have described the efficacy and safety of early infusion of Eculizumab in children with neurologic STEC-HUS. In detail early administration of Eculizumab after appearance of CNS involvement gained complete clinical remission and absence of neurologic sequelae, unlike what was observed with only supportive therapy [25,49,50]. However, Eculizumab treatment of STEC-HUS patients during Germany epidemic in 2011 did not reach similar efficacy, because of late administration after prolonged PEX treatment [2].

In our cohort, Eculizumab was administered in five STEC-HUS patients with severe NI. A good clinical and serological response was gained in 80% of patients (n=4), ~~without infusion-related side effects and~~ with normalization of laboratory findings (Figure 3, [4](#)) and complete regression of neurologic signs and lesions, as assessed by EEG test and NMR imaging (Figure5). Only one patient with higher PNAS-HUS showed persistent neurologic sequelae and evolved to end stage renal disease requiring hemodialysis. It is conceivable that lack of response in this case was due to

late administration of Eculizumab (>72h) after prolonged PEX treatment. The remaining patients were treated within 24-48h the onset of CNS signs, thus supporting the hypothesis that anti-C5-convertase inhibitor is more effective in treatment of severe forms of STEC-HUS if early administered. Of note the more severe forms of STEC-HUS with NI were observed in the last decade, probably to increased virulence of isolated STEC stains [22].

InterestinglyIn our study, the pediatric neurologic score, applied retrospectively in STEC-HUS patients, showed that those with severe clinical sign (PNAS-HUS >9 arbitrary units) had needed the treatment with Eculizumab, while in those with milder phenotype (PNAS-HUS <9 arbitrary units) supportive care had been resolutive.

Small number of patients, single center experience and absence of a control group (alternative treatment in severe cases of NI) are certainly limitations of the present study. However the proposed pediatric neurologic score may help to differentiate STEC-HUS patients with severe or mild neurologic involvement and, finally, to support the therapeutic option of Eculizumab. Nevertheless further studies are needed to validate the PNAS-HUS scoring system, as well as the development of a prospective registry for assessing neurologic outcomes in STEC-HUS patients.

In conclusion, the combined role of complement system activation, pro-inflammatory and pro-apoptotic cytokines and electrolyte disorders seem to play a crucial role in determining the neurologic damage during STEC-HUS. CNS involvement in this cohort of patient worsens the morbidity and mortality and require adequate supportive therapy (correction of electrolyte disorders, anti-epileptic therapy and cardio-respiratory support when needed). When characterized by severe clinical presentation, as confirmed by neurologic score, the prompt administration of Eculizumab may significantly improve both the neurologic signs and the laboratory findings.

Early treatment of severe forms of neurologic STEC-HUS with Eculizumab after adequate clinical and instrumental neurologic examination may significantly improve the clinical outcome of these form. The validation of a Pediatric Neurologic Assessment Score for STEC-HUS (PNAS-HUS), as proposed in the present work, may improve our ability to identify patients with CNS involvement at higher risk of morbidity and mortality and may drive the prompt employ of Eculizumab in this cohort of patients.



## References

- 1) Copelovitch, L. & Kaplan, B.S. (2008) The thrombotic microangiopathies. *PediatrNephrol* Oct; 23 (10):1761-7.
- 2) Kielstein JT, Beutel G, Fleig S, Steinhoff J, Meyer TN, et al. (2012) Best supportive care and therapeutic plasma exchange with or without Eculizumab in Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* O104:H4 induced haemolytic–uraemic syndrome: an analysis of the German STEC-HUS registry. *NephrolDialTransplant* 27(10):3807–15.
- 3) Ardissino G, Tel F, Possenti I, Testa S, Consonni D, et al (2016) Early Volume Expansion and Outcomes of Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome. *Pediatrics* Jan;137(1).
- 4) Hickey CA, Beattie TJ, Cowieson J, Miyashita Y, Strife CF et al. (2011) Early volume expansion during diarrhea and relative nephroprotection during subsequent hemolytic uremic syndrome. *ArchPediatrAdolescMed* 165:884–889
- 5) Johnson S., Taylor C.M., (2009) Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome, Cap. 48, in *Pediatric Nephrology* 6th ed., Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 1155-1178
- 6) Corogeanu D, Willmes R, Wolke M, Plum G, Utermöhlen O, Krönke M. (2012) Therapeutic concentrations of antibiotics inhibit Shiga toxin release from enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* O104:H4 from the 2011 German outbreak. *BMC Microbiol* Aug 1;12:160.
- 7) Freedman SB<sup>1,2</sup>, Xie J<sup>2</sup>, Neufeld MS<sup>2</sup>, Hamilton WL<sup>3</sup>, Hartling L<sup>4</sup>, et al (Alberta Provincial Pediatric Enteric Infection Team, APPETITE) (2015) Shiga Toxin-Producing *Escherichia coli* Infection, Antibiotics, and Risk of Developing Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome: A Meta-analysis. (2016) *ClinInfectDis*. May 15;62(10):1251-1258.
- 8) Effect of antibiotics on cellular stress generated in Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and non-O157 biofilms. *Toxicol In Vitro* Oct;29(7):1692-700.
- 9) Tajiri H, Nishi J, Ushijima K, Shimizu T, Ishige T, et al. (2015) A role for fosfomicin treatment in children for prevention of haemolytic-uraemic syndrome accompanying Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* infection. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*. Nov;46(5):586-9.

- 10) Rizzoni G, Claris-Appiani A, Edefonti A, Facchin P, Franchini F, et al. (1998) Plasma infusion for hemolytic-uremic syndrome in children: results of a multicenter controlled trial. *J Pediatr* Feb;112(2):284-90.
- 11) Slavicek J, Puretić Z, Novak M, Sarnavka V, Benjak V, et al. (1995) The role of plasma exchange in the treatment of severe forms of hemolytic-uremic syndrome in childhood. *ArtifOrgans* Jun;19(6):506-10.
- 12) Tummolo A, Colella V, Bellantuono R, Giordano M, Messina G, et al.(2012) Apheresis in children: procedures and outcome *G ItalNefrol* Jan-Feb;29 Suppl 54:S125-9.
- 13) Colic E, Dieperink H, Titlestad K, et al. (2011) Management of an acute outbreak of diarrhoea-associated haemolyticuraemic syndrome with early plasma exchange in adults from southern Denmark: an observational study. *Lancet* 378:1089-1093.
- 14) Bitzan M, Schaefer F, Reymond D. (2010) Treatment of typical (enteropathic) hemolytic uremic syndrome. *SeminThrombHemost* Sep;36(6):594-610.
- 15) Michael M, Elliott EJ, CraigJC, Ridley G, Hodson EM. (2009) Interventions for hemolytic uremic syndrome and thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Am J KidneyDis* 53(2):259–27
- 16) Scheiring J, Andreoli SP, Zimmerhackl LB. (2008) Treatment and outcome of Shiga-toxin-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS). *PediatrNephrol* Oct;23(10):1749-60.
- 17) Matthies J, Hünseler C, Ehren R, Volland R, Körber F, et al (2016) Extrarenal Manifestations in Shigatoxin-Associated Haemolytic Uremic Syndrome. *KlinPaediatr* Jul;228(4):181-8.
- 18) Trachtman H, Austin C, Lewinski M, Stahl RA. (2012) Renal and neurological involvement in typical Shiga toxin-associated HUS. *NatRevNephrol* Nov;8(11):658-69.
- 19) Hofer J, Rosales A, Fischer C, Giner T.(2014) Extra-Renal Manifestations of Complement-Mediated Thrombotic Microangiopathies. *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, 2, 97:1-16.
- 20) Thurman JM, Marians R, Emlen W, Wood S, Smith C, et al (2009) Alternative pathway of complement in children with diarrhea-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Clin J AmSocNephrol*. Dec;4(12):1920-4.

- 21) Lapeyraque AL, Malina M, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Boppel T, Kirschfink M, et al. (2011) Eculizumab in severe Shiga-toxin-associated HUS. *N Engl J Med* Jun 30;364(26):2561-3.
- 22) Germinario C, Caprioli A, Giordano M, Chironna M, Gallone MS, et al. (2016) Community-wide outbreak of haemolyticuraemic syndrome associated with Shiga toxin 2-producing *Escherichia coli* O26:H11 in southern Italy, summer 2013. *Euro Surveill* 21(38):30343.
- 23) Bielaszewska M, Mellmann A, Zhang W, Köck R, Fruth A, et al. (2011) Characterisation of the *Escherichia coli* strain associated with an outbreak of haemolyticuraemic syndrome in Germany, 2011: a microbiological study. *Lancet Infect Dis*. Sep;11(9):671-6.
- 24) Nathanson S, Kwon T, Elmaleh M, Charbit M, Launay EA, et al. (2010) Acute neurological involvement in diarrhea-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Clin J AmSocNephrol* Jul;5(7):1218-28.
- 25) Gitiaux C, Krug P, Grevent D, Kossorotoff M, Poncet S, et al. (2013) Brain magnetic resonance imaging pattern and outcome in children with haemolytic-uraemic syndrome and neurological impairment treated with eculizumab. *DevMed Child Neurol*. Aug;55(8):758-65.
- 26) Ohlmann D, Hamann GF, Hassler M, Schimrigk K. (1996) Involvement of the central nervous system in hemolytic uremic syndrome/thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Nervenarzt* Oct;67(10):880-2.
- 27) Magnus T, Röther J, Simova O, Meier-Cillien M, Repenthin J, et al (2012) The neurological syndrome in adults during the 2011 northern German *E. coli* serotype O104:H4 outbreak. *Brain* Jun;135(Pt 6):1850-9.
- 28) Fujii J, Kinoshita Y, Kita T, Higure A, Takeda T, et al. (1996) Magnetic resonance imaging and histopathological study of brain lesions in rabbits given intravenous verotoxin 2. *InfectImm* Dec;64(12):5053-60.
- 29) Shiraishi M, Ichiyama T, Matsushige T, Iwaki T, Iyoda K, et al. (2008) Soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 in hemolytic uremic syndrome with encephalopathy. *J Neuroimmunol*. May 30;196(1- 2) : 147-52.

- 30) Eisenhauer PB, Chaturvedi P, Fine RE, Ritchie AJ, Pober JS, et al. (2001) Tumor necrosis factor alpha increases human cerebral endothelial cell Gb3 and sensitivity to Shiga toxin  
Infect Immun Mar; 69(3):1889-94.
- 31) Ergonul Z, Clayton F, Fogo AB, Kohan DE. (2003) Shigatoxin-1 binding and receptorexpression in human kidneys do not change with age. *PediatrNephrol* Mar;18(3):246-53.
- 32) Grisaru S, Xie J, Samuel S, Hartling L, Tarr PI, Schnadower D, Freedman SB; Alberta Provincial Pediatric Enteric Infection Team (2017) Associations Between Hydration Status, Intravenous Fluid Administration, and Outcomes of Patients Infected With Shiga Toxin-Producing *Escherichia coli*: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr* 171(1):68-76.
- 33) Takahashi K, Funata N, Ikuta F, Sato S. (2008) Neuronal apoptosis and inflammatory responses in the central nervous system of a rabbit treated with Shiga toxin-2. *J Neuroinflammation* Mar 21;5:11.
- 34) Arieff AI, Llach F, Massry SG. (1976) Neurological manifestations and morbidity of hyponatremia: correlation with brain water and electrolytes *Medicine* Mar;55(2):121-9
- 35) Park SJ, Shin JI(2013) Inflammation and hyponatremia: an underrecognized condition? *Korean J Pediatr* Dec;56(12):519-22.
- 36) Teramoto T, Fukao T, Hirayama K, Asano T, Aoki Y, Kondo N. (2009) *Escherichia coli* O-157-induced hemolytic uremic syndrome: Usefulness of SCWP score for the prediction of neurological complication. *PediatrInt.* Feb;51(1):107-9.
- 37) Tarr PI, Karpman D (2012) Editorial Commentary: *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 and Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome: The Analysis Begins. *ClinicalInfectDis* Sep;55(6):760-3.
- 38) Orth-Höller D, Würzner R. Role of complement in enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia Coli*-Induced hemolytic uremic syndrome (2014) *SeminThrombHemost.* Jun;40(4):503-7.
- 39) Hillmen P, Muus P, Röth A, Eletube MO, Risitano M et al. (2013) Long term safety and efficacy of sustained eculizumab treatment in patients with paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria. *Br J Haematol* 162(1):62–73

- 40) Delmas Y, Vendrely B, Clouzeau B, Bachir H, Bui HN, et al. (2014) Outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 haemolyticuraemic syndrome in France: outcome with eculizumab. *NephrolDialTransplant* Mar;29(3):565-72.
- 41) Würzner R, Riedl M, Rosales A, Orth-Höller D. (2014) Treatment of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*-induced hemolytic uremic syndrome (eHUS). *SeminThrombHemost* Jun;40(4):508-16.
- 42) Loos S, Ahlenstiel T, Kranz B, Staude H, Pape L et al. (2012) An outbreak of Shigatoxin producing *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 hemolytic uremic syndrome in Germany: presentation and short-term outcome in children. *ClinInfectDis* 55(6):753–759
- 43) Luzzi I, García-Fernández A, Dionisi AM, Lucarelli C, Gattuso A, Gianfranceschi M, Maugliani A, Caprioli A, Morabito S, Scavia G (2017). Enter-Net Italia and the Italian registry of hemolytic uremic syndrome: surveillance of *Salmonella*, *Campylobacter*, Shiga-toxin producer *Escherichia coli* and *Listeria monocytogenes* infections (2010-2015). Reports of Italian Institute of Health (Rapporti ISTISAN) 17/34, ii, 70 p. (in Italian)
- 44) Ardissino G, Daccò V, Testa S, Bonaudo R, Claris-Appiani A, Taioli E, Marra G, Edefonti A, Sereni F; Italkid Project. Epidemiology of chronic renal failure in children: data from the Italkid project. *Pediatrics*. 2003 Apr;111(4 Pt 1):e382-7.
- 45) Krug P., Oualha M., Boyer O. Gitiaux C., Grevent D., Boddaert N., Niaudet P., Salomon R. “Neurological Involvement in E. Coli-associated Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome”, 9th May 2012, Amsterdam, 8th International Symposium on Shiga Toxin Producing E. Coli Infections.
- 46) Ward DM (2011) Conventional apheresis therapies: a review. *J ClinApher* 26:230–238
- 47) Greinacher A, Friesecke S, Abel P, Dressel A, Stracke S, Fiene M, Ernst F, Selleng K, Weissenborn K, Schmidt BM, Schiffer M, Felix SB, Lerch MM, Kielstein JT, Mayerle J (2011) Treatment of severe neurological deficits with IgG depletion through immunoadsorption in patients with *Escherichia coli* O104:H4- associated haemolyticuraemic syndrome: a prospective trial. *Lancet* 378:1166–1173

- 48) Flam B, Sackey P, Berge A, Zachau AC, Brink B, Lundberg S. Diarrhea-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome with severe neurological manifestations treated with IgG depletion through immunoadsorption. *J Nephrol.* 2016 Oct;29(5):711-4. doi:
- 49) Pape L, Hartmann H, Bange FC, Suerbaum S, Bueltmann E, Ahlenstiel-Grunow T. Eculizumab in Typical Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome (HUS) With Neurological Involvement. *Medicine (Baltimore).* 2015 Jun;94(24):e1000.
- 50) Saini A, Emke AR, Silva MC, Perlman SJ. Response to Eculizumab in Escherichia Coli O157: H7-induced hemolytic uremic syndrome with severe neurological manifestations. *ClinPediatr (Philadelphia).* 2015 Apr;54(4):387-9.

**Table 1. Main laboratory characteristics STEC-HUS patients with and without CNS involvement**

	<b>Total (n=54)</b>	<b>CNS involvement (n=12)</b>	<b>No CNS involvement (n=42)</b>	<b>p</b>
Gender (M/F)	23/31	6/6	19/23	0.770
Age (months)	32 [7-62]	25 [7-53]	38 [13-62]	0.299
BodyWeight (kg)	11.9 [6.8-17.4]	12.0 [7.2-15.7]	11.2 [6.8-17.4]	0.791
Hospitalization (before diagnosis of STEC-HUS)	5.0 [2.5-9.0]	6 .0[4.5-8.0]	4.5 [2.5-9.0]	0.489
Blood Pressure				
Systolic	110 [100-125]	110 [100-125]	108 [103-115]	0.734
Diastolic	70 [60-80]	70 [60-80]	65 [60-70]	0.631
<b>SerumCreatinin (mg/dL)</b>	<b>2.8 [0.6-5.4]</b>	<b>3.5 [3.0-5.4]</b>	<b>1.3 [0.6-1.8]</b>	<b>&lt;0.001</b>
<b>Serum Urea (mg/dL)</b>	<b>140.4 [58.2-225.8]</b>	<b>176.8 [22.8-225.8]</b>	<b>99.9 [58.2-175.4]</b>	<b>&lt;0.002</b>
<b>Leucocyte count (x10<sup>3</sup>/μL)</b>	<b>14.9 [10.1-18.0]</b>	<b>17.8 [13.6-21.3]</b>	<b>11.0 [8.2-12.6]</b>	<b>&lt;0.001</b>
<b>C reactive protein (mg/dL)</b>	<b>3.7 [0.5-30.0]</b>	<b>19.7 [6.7-30.0]</b>	<b>1.1 [0.5-3.5]</b>	<b>&lt;0.001</b>
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	9.7 [8.1-10.6]	9.9 [9.6-10.6]	9.3 [8.1-10.0]	0.082
Platelets (x10 <sup>3</sup> /μL)	68.0 [30.0-81.2]	63.5 [37.0-76.7]	64.3 [27.2-86.5]	0.785
LDH (UI/mL)	3695 [1205-5170]	3780 [1660-5250]	3540 [1090-5300]	0.502
<b>Sodium (mEq/L)</b>	<b>133 [124-140]</b>	<b>129 [124-132]</b>	<b>134 [130-140]</b>	<b>&lt;0.005</b>
Potassium (mEq/L)	4.5 [3.5-5.1]	4.1 [3.5-4.7]	4.5 [3.9-5.1]	0.473
Albumin (g/dL)	3.1 [2.7-3.5]	3.0 [2.7-3.5]	3.1 [3.0-3.5]	0.696
Uric acid (mg/dL)	8.6 [6.4-10.9]	8.9 [6.8-12.0]	7.7 [5.6-8.7]	0.142

Values are expressed as mean and as [minimum – maximum] range. A comparison between main clinical and laboratory parameters of patients with CNS involvement and patients without CNS involvement is shown and a p-value is reported.

**Table 2. Neurologic signs and symptoms included in Pediatric Neurological Assessment**

**Score of STEC-HUS patients with CNS involvement.**

Patient	Gender	Age (months)	E. Coli	Alteration of consciousness	Epileptic seizures	Strabismus/Eye fixing	Nystagmus	Visusorders/Amaurosis	Disorders of muscle tone (hypo/hypertensive)	<u>Dysarthria/Disorders of communication skills*</u>	Neurovegetative system disorders**	NMR	CT Scan	EEG	<u>Neurological Score</u>	Eculizumab
1	F	18	O111	1	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1,5	5,5	No
2	M	13	O26	2	2	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	2	9	No
3	M	20	-	1	2	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	2	9	No
4	F	25	O26	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0,5	3,5	No
5	M	16	O26	1	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	5	No
6	F	27	O26	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0,5	5,5	No
7	F	53	O111	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1,5	7,5	No
8	M	33	O111	3	3	3	0	3	2	3	3	4	1	0,5	25,5	Yes
9	M	46	O26	3	3	2	0	1	2	3	3	2	1	2	22	Yes
10	F	23	O111	1	2	1	2	0	0	0	0	2	1	2,5	11,5	Yes
11	M	7	O26	2	3	0	0	0	0	0	2	2	0	4	13	Yes
12	F	17	O26	2	3	2	0	0	3	1	0	1	0	2	14	Yes

\*Disorders of communication skills: regression of acquired communication skills for younger patients, dysarthria for others patients

\*\*Neurovegetative system disorders: heart rate alterations, hypo/~~hyper~~tension, respiratory rate alterations; NMR nuclear magnetic resonance

**Supplementary Tabel 1. Pediatric Neurological Assessment Score of STEC-HUS patients with CNS involvement**

Neurologic signs and symptoms	Score
<b>1. Alteration of consciousness</b>	
Pediatric GCS* 0	0
Pediatric GCS 1-2	1
Pediatric GCS 3-4	2
Pediatric GCS 5	3
<b>2. Epileptic seizures</b>	
No episode	0
Absence seizures	1
Focal seizures	2
Generalized seizures	3
<b>3. Strabismus/Eye fixing</b>	
Absence	0
Transient	1
Short term (<6h)	2
Long term (>6h)	3
<b>4. Nystagmus</b>	
Absence	0
Transient	1
Short term (<6h)	2
Long term (>6h)	3
<b>5. Visus disorders/Amaurosis</b>	
Absence	0
Transient	1
Short term (<6h)	2
Long term (>6h)	3

Neurologic signs and symptoms	Score
<b>6. Disorders of muscle tone (hypo/hypertensive)</b>	
Absence	0
Transient	1
Short term (<6h)	2
Long term (>6h)	3
<b>7. <del>Dysarthria</del> Disorders of communication skills**</b>	
Absence	0
Transient	1
Short term (<6h)	2
Long term (>6h)	3
<b>8. Neurovegetative system disorders***</b>	
Absence	0
Onset of 1 disorder	1
Onset of 2 disorders	2
Onset of 3 disorders	3
<b>Neuro-radiological and electrophysiological examination</b>	
<b>Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) of the Brain</b>	
1 point for each examination	+1
<b>CT Scan of the Brain</b>	
1 point for each examination	+1
<b>Electroencephalography (EEG)</b>	
0.5 points for each examination	+0.5

\*GCS Glasgow Coma Scale; \*\*Regression of acquired communication skills for younger patients, dysarthria for others patients;

\*\*\*Heart rate alterations, hypotension, respiratory rate alterations